IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

9

CASE NO. 64,381

Fourth District Case Nos.

82-1984 82-2085

SID J. MAR 14 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURT, By. Chief Deputy Clerk

NEIL J. KARLIN, M.D. and FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND,

Petitioners,

VS.

DONNA DENSON and JOSEPH DENSON,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Attorneys for Petitioners

Richard B. Collins PERKINS & COLLINS 702 Lewis State Bank Building Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 224-3511

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arose out of a medical malpractice action filed by the respondents, Donna Denson and Joseph Denson, against the petitioners, Neil J. Karlin, M.D. and the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund (Fund). The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiffs and on September 2, 1983, the trial court entered Amended Final Judgments of \$100,000.00 against Dr. Karlin and \$400,000.00 against the Fund. The defendants appealed these judgments, which the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed. <u>Karlin v.</u> Denson, 8 Fla. L. W. 2212 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 7, 1983). Case No. 82-1984. The defendants have not sought review of that decision in this Court.

On September 8, 1982, the trial court entered its Order Taxing Attorney's Fees against both defendants of \$185,000.00. See Record on Appeal (hereinafter "R.") at 1588. That order implicitly upheld the constitutionality of the statute authorizing attorney's fees, section 768.56, Florida Statutes (1981). The defendants appealed that order on the ground that the statute is unconstitutional. Case No. 82-2085.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court. 8 Fla. L. W. at 2212. The Court expressly upheld the validity of section 768.56 upon authority of a decision of a different panel of the same Court in <u>Florida</u> <u>Medical Center, Inc. v. Von Stetina</u>, 438 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Necessarily. then, the Fourth District's decision in <u>Von Stetina</u> is now before this Court for review. In upholding the statute, the Fourth District in Von Stetina held:

As we see it, the only question before this court is whether Section 768.56 creates a

^{*/} The constitutionality of this statute is also one of several issues before this Court in an appeal in that case, <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Von Stetina</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 64,251, argued January 12, 1984. The question is also before this Court in <u>Pohlman v.</u> <u>Mathews</u>, 440 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

reasonable classification which bears a reasonable relationship to a permissible legislative objective. All of the sections so far construed by the courts have the same preamble and it is unquestioned that all of them were enacted for precisely the same reasons as the sections already upheld in Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital, supra; Woods v. Holy Cross Hospital, 591 F.2d 1164 (5th Cir. 1979) and Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976). We acknowledge that the section applicable to the final case cited in the preceding sentence was struck down in <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1980) but not for reasons germane to the issue before us now. There are over seventy Florida Statutes awarding attorney's fees upon the outcome of litigation, see Volume 4 Florida Statutes p.402 (1981), and while two, or for that matter seventy, wrongs do not make a right, we perceive no such wrong in the section now before us.

438 So.2d at 1030.

On September 20, 19B3, the defendants moved to stay the issuance of the Fourth District's mandate pursuant to Rules 9.340 and 9.310, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Fourth District granted the motion for stay on October 3, 1983.

The petitioners timely filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court on October 6, 1983. This Court accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument by order dated February 21, 1984.

-3-

STATEMENT OF FACTS */

History of Florida Medical Malpractice Statutes.

In 1975 and 1976 the Legislature found and declared that a public crisis existed in Florida health care. It found that medical malpractice insurers were threatening to withdraw from the Florida market and that this would force doctors to leave or curtail their practices, thereby threatening the availability of medical care at affordable rates, or perhaps altogether.

In response to this crisis, the Legislature enacted the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975, Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, and an amendment to that act, Ch. 76-260, Laws of Florida. The Preamble to Chapter 75-9 contained the following findings:

> WHEREAS, the cost of purchasing medical professional liability insurance for doctors and other health care providers has skyrocketted in the past few months; and

WHEREAS, it is not uncommon to find physicians in high-risk categories paying premiums in excess of \$20,000 annually; and

WHEREAS, the consumer ultimately must bear the financial burdens created by the high cost of insurance; and

WHEREAS, without some legislative relief, doctors will be forced to curtail their practices, retire, or practice

 $[\]star$ / This appeal presents questions of the constitutionality of section 768.56. Therefore, the principal facts relate to the content and history of the pertinent statutory provisions.

defensive medicine at increased cost to the citizens of Florida

At this time, the Legislature created the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund.

The Patient's Compensation Fund is a non-profit association which provides its members, Florida health care providers, with excess protection against major medical malpractice claims. It provides an alternative to conventional commercial insurance excess coverage, which, as the Legislature found, was unavailable in 1975 for some health care providers and too expensive for others. The petitioner Dr. Karlin is a member of the Fund.

The purpose of the Fund is to provide protection for health care providers and a guaranteed source of recovery for malpractice victims. The Fund must be joined as a defendant in cases where the damages claimed exceed \$100,000.

The 1975 law also created medical mediation panels to have claims evaluated by an expert panel prior to the filing of civil suits. The purpose of these non-binding proceedings was to reduce malpractice litigation by giving claimants and defendants some objective indication of the merits of a claim without the expense of a full civil trial. In 1980 the mediation panel mechanism was held unconstitutional by the Supreme Court of Florida as a denial of due process of law. <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1980).

-5-

Within months the 1980 Legislature reacted, expressing the belief that the <u>Aldana</u> decision would result in destabilization in the medical malpractice insurance marketplace. The Legislature enacted the statute now under review, the prevailing party attorney's fee statute, as an alternative method to "screen out claims lacking in merit" and to "enhance the prompt settlement of meritorious claims." The Legislature articulated its intent in the preamble to Chapter 80-67 as follows:

> WHEREAS, the effect of the invalidity of the mediation panel statute and the removal of its proven positive results will be a marked destabilization of the professional liability insurance marketplace and a dramatic increase in professional liability insurance premiums paid by health care providers in Florida, thus precipitating a present crisis in the professional liability insurance market, and

WHEREAS, the impact of significant market destabilization and premium increases on the citizens of Florida will be felt through significant increases in the costs of health care services and the imminent danger of a drastic curtailment in the availability of health care services, and

WHEREAS, an alternative to the mediation panels is needed which will similarly screen out claims lacking in merit and which will enhance the prompt settlement of meritorious claims, and

WHEREAS, the issue of liability is a primary issue to be resolved in medical malpractice litigation while the issue of damages is generally the primary issue in other areas of tort litigation and, furthermore, comparative negligence is rarely an issue in malpractice actions but is a prevalent issue in other areas of the law, and

WHEREAS, a requirement whereby the prevailing party in medical malpractice litigation is entitled to recover a reasonable attorney's fee is effective where liability is the primary issue and where comparative negligence is not at issue, but loses its effectiveness and fairness in other contexts, and

WHEREAS, individuals required to pay attorney's fees to the prevailing party will seriously evaluate the merits of a potential medical malpractice claim, . . .

The new alternative to the mediation panels provided that the prevailing party in medical malpractice cases was entitled in every case to recover a reasonable attorney's fee from the non-prevailing party. Section 768.56(1); Ch. 80-67, Laws of Florida. See Appendix (hereinafter A.) at 1-3.

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN HOLDING SECTION 768.56 CONSTITUTIONAL

Ι.

SECTION 768.5S IS AN INVALID EXERCISE OF THE POLICE POWER.

An act of the Legislature is valid if there is a reasonable relationship between the stated objective of the statute and the means used by the legislature to advance that purpose. <u>Horsemen's Benevolent and Protective Assoc.</u> <u>v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering</u>, 397 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1981); <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276, 280 (Fla. 1978). Assuming that the purpose of deterring the filing of nonmeritorious claims and encouraging the prompt settlement of meritorious claims for malpractice litigants. as a separate class, is valid, <u>see Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon</u> <u>Hospital Corp.</u>, 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981), section 768.56 is nonetheless invalid because the means chosen by the Legislature are totally inconsistent with its stated premises and objectives. <u>Horsemen's</u>, 397 So.2d at 695. Because section 768.56 is arbitrary and irrational in light

 $[\]star$ / If this Court holds that this statute fails the rational basis test, it need not reach the strict scrutiny under equal protection or the access to courts issues. Consistent with the principle that the Court will choose the narrowest possible ground on which to invalidate the statute. we analyze the rational basis test first. See Osterndorf v. Turner, 426 So.2d 539, 544 (Fla. 19B2).

of its purpose, it is an invalid exercise of the police power under the Florida Constitution, and denies those subject to its reach due process and equal protection as secured by the Florida and United States Constitutions. <u>Patch Enterprises, Inc. v. McCall</u>, 447 F.Supp. 1075, 1078, 1081 (M.D. Fla. 1978) (legislation based on a non-suspect classification and which does not infringe fundamental rights is subject to the rational basis test under all three doctrines).*/

> A. Section 768.56 Is Unconstitutional Because It Is Irrational In Light Of Its Preamble.

When measured against the reasons articulated for its enactment, section 768.56 reveals serious and irreconcilable internal contradictions between its express goals and the underlying premise stated in the preamble. The Legislature found, and stated in the eighth "Whereas" clause, that: "[T]he issue of liability is a primary issue to be resolved in medical malpractice litigation, in

^{*/} This law has been criticized as unconstitutional by nearly all commentators. For example, the foremost plaintiff's medical malpractice attorney, J.B. Spence, has written a law review article detailing the ways the statute is unconstitutional. According to Mr. Spence, section 768.56 "is not a valid exercise of the state's police power," and "[i]t denies all persons equal protection of the laws . . . " Spence and Roth, <u>Closing the Courthouse</u> <u>Door: Florida's Spurious Claims Statute</u>, 10 Stetson L. Rev. 397 (1981).

contrast to other areas of tort litigation where damages is generally the primary issue." Building on that premise, the Legislature concluded:

> a requirement whereby the prevailing party in medical malpractice litigation is entitled to recover a reasonable attorney's fee is effective where liability is the primary issue . . . but loses its effectiveness and fairness in other contexts.

> > Preamble to Chapter 80-67, Clause No. 9

If liability is the primary issue to be resolved in malpractice litigation, questions of liability cannot be easily or objectively determined by private parties. This is precisely the reason that the judiciary exists -- to provide an impartial assessment of such issues. Yet the Legislature has singled out this admittedly difficult issue and imposed a penalty, payment of reasonable attorney's fees, upon the nonprevailing party in every case. The sanction is uniformly applied without any requirement of a finding of vexatiousness, improper conduct, or unreasonableness of the claim or defense. The statute imposes the attorney's fee sanction upon those who are unable to predict that which the Legislature concedes cannot be predicted: the outcome of a trial on the primary liability issue. The law decries the very factual findings which underlie its own existence.

Moreover, it is obvious that the mandatory attorney's fee award does not encourage settlement. When a plaintiff has a strong liability case, the statutory fee promises to add to the "pot" the plaintiff will recover.

This increased likelihood of recovering a separate additional attorney's fee discourages settlement in such cases. even where the defendant is willing to settle. This predictable consequence -- particularly likely when a plaintiff is insolvent and immune from the sanction of section 768.58 -- is highlighted by cases where the attorney's fee exceeds the amount of the plaintiff's recovery. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Baker v. Varela</u>, 418 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (Attorney's fee of \$20,000 awarded where plaintiff's damages were \$15,000). The statute thus frustrates its own purpose and is an unconstitutional denial of due process to losing malpractice litigants.

This Court has applied a rational basis test to invalidate a statute requiring racehorse licensees to pay one percent of every purse to a "horseman's association." <u>Horsemen's Benevolent and Protective Assoc. v. Division of</u> <u>Pari-Mutuel Wagering</u>, 397 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1981). The Court acknowledged that the objectives of the statute, such as encouraging year-round stalling of horses in Florida, were valid. But the statute did not restrict the use of the funds; it did not require the money to be used to encourage year-round stalling or otherwise to enhance state revenues.

-11-

Therefore, the statute was held to be an invalid exercise of the police power because it was not reasonably related to the accomplishment of the legislative goals.

This Court again recently applied the rational basis test to invalidate a statute because it did not rationally advance the legislative purpose. Simmons v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 407 So.2d 269 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), aff'd., 412 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1982). The statute under review in Simmons prohibited dogs and horses from racing with "any substance foreign to the natural horse or dog." The district court of appeal examined the legislative preamble and concluded that the purposes of the act, "to preserve the integrity of the sport of racing from corruption, to keep the wagering public from being misled, to reduce the risk of injury, and to protect the animals from cruel and inhumane treatment," were "indisputably" valid. 407 So.2d at 271 and n.5. But the actual language of the law prohibited the use of both helpful and harmful substances. The court held that portion of the statute unconstitutional and said: "When measured against the articulated reasons for the enactment of the statute, that part of the statute banning any foreign substance cannot be said to bear a fair and substantial relationship to the objectives sought." Id. at 271-72 (court's emphasis). This Court affirmed, and adopted the district court's reasoning and conclusions. 412 So.2d at 359.

-12-

The Second District Court of Appeal recently applied the same reasoning to invalidate, under the rational basis test, a statute making it illegal to possess a controlled substance in anything other than its original container. In <u>State v. Walker</u>, 9 Fla. L. W. 368 (2d DCA Case No. 83-1047, Feb. 8, 1984), the court measured the legislative purpose against the actual provisions of the law:

> The legislative concern . . . is to convict persons who illegally possess controlled substances, not those who remove prescription drugs from their original containers. When weighed against the stated legislative objective we find that the application of [the statute] is an irrational means to achieve that goal.

> > Id. at 369.

This Court must test the means chosen by the Legislature against the pronouncements of the preamble to determine whether the law bears a reasonable relationship to the legislative objective. The grounds for invalidating section 768.56, the medical malpractice prevailing party attorney's fee statute, are compelling. The law is manifestly unrelated to the accomplishment of its goals; it mocks the very factual findings which underlie its enactment. It is irrational. It is not reasonably related to the legislative findings or objectives. It is unconstitutional. B. The Forth District Erred Because It Completely Ignored The Factors That Should Have Been Analyzed To Determine The Validity of Section 768.56.

The Fourth District in <u>Von Stetina</u> cursorily discussed and upheld section 768.56 on two bases. First it said that the law shares the same preamble as the other sections of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act, Chapter 75-9 which have previously been upheld. 436 So.2d at 1030. Second, the Fourth District "reasoned" that because there are over seventy other "statutes awarding attorney's fees upon the outcome of litigation, . . . while two, or for that matter seventy, wrongs do not make a right, we perceive no such wrong in the section now before us." <u>Id</u>.

An examination of these rationale reveals that both are incorrect and insufficient to support the judgment below. First, the Court's statement that section 768.56 shares the same preamble as other sections of the Malpractice Reform Act is factually inaccurate -- it has a separate and distinct preamble. Second, the "adding machine" method of determining the validity of this attorney's fee statute ignores the substantial differences between this and other statutes authorizing the recovery of attorney's fees. Section 768.56 has a separate preamble, which was overlooked by the Fourth District

The Fourth District purported to employ the rational basis test to decide the validity of Section 768.56. It perfunctorily, and mistakenly, lumped together section 768.56 with other provisions of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act which have been held valid in other contexts:

> As we see it, the only question before this court is whether Section 788.58 creates a reasonable classification which bears a reasonable relationship to a permissible legislative objective. <u>All of the sections</u> so far construed by the courts have the same <u>preamble</u> and it is unquestioned that all of them were enacted for precisely the same reasons as the sections already upheld in [<u>Pinillos</u>, <u>Woods</u> and <u>Carter</u>].

> > 436 So.2d at 1030, (emphasis added)

The Fourth District was simply wrong when it stated that the attorney's fee statute shares the same preamble with the sections upheld in <u>Pinillos</u>, <u>Woods</u> and <u>Carter</u>. Section 768.56 was enacted in 1980, five years after the initial statutory framework upheld in those cases. It was enacted with its own separate and distinct preamble. <u>See</u> Preamble to ch. 80-67, Laws of Florida, quoted <u>supra</u> at 6-7. Surely the "minimal scrutiny" of the rational basis test does not contemplate a total absence of judicial attention.

The Fourth District broadly reasoned that because the objective of reducing malpractice insurance is legitimate and that other enactments addressing this goal have been held valid, there is no reason to distinguish section 768.56. That analysis is totally inadequate. This Court must examine the specific legislative preamble in light of the means chosen by the particular statute to accomplish the desired goals.*/ See Horsemen's Benevolent and Protective Assoc. v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 397 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1981); Simmons v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 407 So.2d 269 (Fla. 3d DCA 1g81), aff'd 412 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1982). See also State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978). The unique preamble which the Fourth District ignored contains ten separate Whereas clauses dealing with the specific reasons why a prevailing party attorney's fee statute should reduce litigation and alleviate the medical malpractice insurance crisis. As the discussion above indicates, the statute does not rationally advance these objectives.

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