22 1984 , SUPRIME/COURT ₿v enter Deputy Clerk IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: 64,381

Fourth District Case Nos.

82-1984 82-2085

NEIL J. KARLIN, M.D., and FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND,

Petitioners,

vs.

DONNA DENSON and JOSEPH DENSON,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Attorneys for Respondents 2215 AmeriFirst Building One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Tel. No.: (305) 374-3070 BY: MILTON KELNER, ESQ. BY: JOHN D. KELNER, ESQ.

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

ARGUMENT

FLORIDA STATUTE §768.56 IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

A. RATIONAL BASIS TEST

The "test" to be applied to the statute in measuring its constitutionality against both the equal protection clauses and the due process clauses are essentially the same, namely, the "rational basis test". Both clauses will be discussed together for the sake of economy.

In <u>State of Florida v. C. H</u>., 421 So.2d 62 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the Court stated:

"We begin our analysis by noting two fundamental principles of statutory construction. First, "this Court has the duty if reasonably possible, consistent with protection of

constitutional rights, to resolve all doubts as to the validity of a statute in favor of its constitutionality, and if reasonably possible a statute should be construed so as not to conflict with the constitution" Powell v. State, 345 So.2d 724, 725 (Fla. 1977).

. . .

The United States Supreme Court set forth the basic principles of equal protection analysis in Lindsley v. Natural Carbonic Gas Co., 220 U.S. 61, 78-79, 31 S.Ct. 337, 340, 55 L.Ed. 369 (1910):

1. The equal-protection clause of the 14th Amendment does not take from the state the power to classify in the adoption of police laws, but admits of the exercise of a wide scope of discretion in that regard, and avoids what is done only when it is without any reasonable basis, and therefore is purely arbitrary.

2. A classification having some reasonable basis does not offend against that clause merely because it is not made with mathematical nicety, or because in practice it results in some inequality.

3. When the classification in such a law is called in question, if any state of facts reasonable can be conceived that would sustain it, the existence of that state of facts at the time the law was enacted must be assumed. One who assails the classification in such a law must carry the burden of showing that it does not rest upon any reasonable basis, but is essentially arbitrary.

(4-7) Given this scope of review, a court cannot object to a statutory classification merely because a more precise line could be drawn to effectuate the act's underlying policy. Hamilton v. State, 366 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1979)." (at pages 64, 65). Whether a statute complies with the due process clause is determined as follows:

> The test to be used in determining whether an act is violative of the due process clause is whether the statute bears a reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary, or oppressive." Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Co., 296 So.2d 9, 15 (Fla. 1974). Accord, Chapman v. Dillon, 415 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1982). See generally, 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law, §§362-67 (and decisions cited therein).

Similarly, whether a statute complies with the equal protection clause is determined as follows:

"In order to comply with the requirements of the Equal Protection clause, statutory classifications must be reasonable and nonarbitrary, and all persons in the same class must be treated alike...when the difference between those included in a class and those excluded from it bears a substantial relationship to the legislative purpose, the classification does not deny equal protection." <u>Lasky v. State Farm Insurance</u> <u>Co., supra</u>. at page 18. <u>Accord</u>, <u>Chapman v</u>. Dillon, supra. See generally , 10 Fla.Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law, §§339-44 (and decisions cited therein).

There is no constitutional prohibition against classifying and treating one type of tort victim/tortfeasor differently than other types of tort victims/tortfeasors--so long as the classification is reasonable, the classification treats all persons in the same class alike, and the classification bears a reasonable relationship to a permissible legislative objective. As a result, there are numerous decisions rejecting equal protection and due process challenges to discriminatory legislation very much like the statute involved here. See e.g., Lasky v.

-4-

State Farm Insurance Co., supra. (singling out private passenger automobile accident victims from other accident victims was held reasonable, and reasonably related to permissible legislative objective of reducing automobile insurance rates); Chapman v. permanently injured (singling out private Dillon, supra., passenger automobile accident victims from other accident victims was held reasonable, and reasonably related to permissible legislative objective of reducing automobile insurance rates); Lumbermans Mutual Casualty Co. v. Castagna, 368 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1979)(following Lasky); Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enterprises, Inc., 403 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1981) (singling out automobile accident victims from other accident victims for purposes of abolishing "collateral source rule" was held reasonable, and reasonably related to permissible legislative objective of reducing suits among automobile insurance carriers); McKee v. City of Jacksonville,, 395 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) review denied, 407 So.2d 1104 (Fla. 1981) (collateral source payments).

The question presented to this Court is therefore simply whether §768.56 creates a "reasonable classification", which has a "rational basis" and a "reasonable relationship to a permissible legislative objective." This question has been conclusively resolved by the Florida Supreme Court in favor of upholding the statute at issue here. In <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976), for example, the Supreme Court held that a statute requiring medical malpractice victims to submit their claims to "mediation" as a condition precedent to bringing a tort

-5-

action against a health care provider did not violate the due process or equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions.¹ <u>Accord</u>, <u>Woods v. Holy Cross Hospital</u>, 591 F.2d 1164 (5th Cir., 1979). See <u>McCarthy v. Mensch</u>, 412 So.2d 343 (Fla. 1982). More recently, in <u>Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon</u> <u>Hospital Corp</u>., 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981), the Supreme Court rejected equal protection and due process challenges to a statute requiring payments received from collateral sources to be deducted from a medical malpractice victim's recovery in a tort suit. See <u>Lower Florida Keys Hospital District v. Skelton</u>, 404 So.2d 832 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) (following <u>Pinillos</u>).

All of these decisions hold, in effect, that special legislation designed to alleviate the perceived "medical malpractice insurance crisis" is a reasonable exercise of legislative power in support of a permissible state interest, and that a rational basis exists for singling out medical malpractice victims and health care providers for special burdens and special privileges not imposed upon or granted to other tortfeasors and tort victims.

¹This statute was subsequently declared unconstitutional, but only because it has "proven intrinsically unfair and arbitrary and capricious in (its) application". <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, 381 So.2d 231, 236 (Fla. 1980). This conclusion did not purport to overrule the Court's initial conclusions concerning the facial permissibility of the statute, and it has no bearing on the issue presented in this case--since it is impossible that the Petitioners can demonstrate here that §768.56 has proven intrinically unfair and capricious in its application in the short time that it has been on the books.

-6-

Section §768.56 has its own preamble and, as correctly argued by Petitioners (Petitioners' Brief 14-16, hereinafter PB), is not verbatim, or identical with the other cited preambles, but an analysis of the said preambles shows that in substance they state the same reasons for enactment, namely the "medical malpractice crisis". According to the "Whereas" clauses preceding §768.56, the statute at issue here, was enacted for precisely the same purposes as the statutes at issue in <u>Carter</u>, <u>Woods</u>, and <u>Pinillos</u>. The classification created by §768.56 "bears a reasonable relationship to the legitimate state interest of protecting the public health by ensuring the availability of adequate medical care for the citizens of this state". <u>Pinillos</u>, supra. at 368.

> "In the area of economics and social welfare, a State does not violate the Equal Protection clause merely because the classifications made by its laws are imperfect. If the classification has some "reasonable basis", it does not offend the Constitution simply because the classification "is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality." <u>Woods v. Holy Cross</u> <u>Hospital</u>, <u>supra</u>. at 1174, quoting <u>Danridge v</u>. <u>Williams</u>, 397 U.S. 471, 485, 90 S.Ct. 1153, 1161, 25 L.Ed.2d 491 (1970).

The fact that the statute deals with attorney's fee awards rather than some other method for solving the perceived "medical malpractice insurance crisis" gives the Petitioners no additional legitimate reason to question its constitutionality.

The Petitioners argue that "There Are Less Restrictive Alternatives Which Are More Compatible" (PB 38) and fault the

-7-

legislature for not adopting other possible alternatives which they suggest (PB 39, 40, 41, 42). The Petitioners are not a substitute superior legislature and the other suggested alternatives do not make the instant statute unconstitutional. Hamilton v. State, 366 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1979).

1

In <u>Hunter v. Flowers</u>, 43 So.2d 435, (Fla. 1949), 14 ALR 2d 447, the Supreme Court upheld a statute authorizing the recovery of attorney's fees by successful claimants in summary proceedings to enforce laborers' liens, with the following observation:

> "The validity of statutes awarding attorneys' fees to successful litigants has been upheld in various types of cases in recent years. The rule gleaned from the decided cases seems to be that, so long as the classification is based upon some difference bearing a reasonable and just relation to the act in respect to which the classification is attempted, there is no violation of the "due process" and "equal protection" clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States." (at page 436).

See also, <u>Empire State Insurance Co. v. Chafetz</u>, 302 F.2d 828 (5th Cir., 1962) (statute providing for award of attorney's fees in action brought against insurance company constitutional); <u>Sarasota County v. Barg</u>, 302 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1974) (statute providing for award of attorney's fees in litigation arising under Manasota Key Conservation District Act constitutional); <u>Sharpe v. Herman A. Thomas, Inc</u>., 250 So.2d 257 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>. 257 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1971), (statute allowing reasonable attorney's fee to successful mechanic's lien claimant constitutional). See <u>generally</u>, <u>Annotation</u>,

-8-

х.

Attorneys Fees to Successful Claimant, 73 ALR 3d 515 (1976).

The statute at issue here is reasonably designed to discourage frivolous medical malpractice claims and encourage prompt settlement of meritorious claims, with a view toward advancing a permissible legislative interest, namely, the reduction of medical malpractice insurance premiums and health care costs. The similarity of the subject statute to the various other attorney's fee statutes which have withstood constitutional attack in the past is apparent. In fact, the statute at issue does not suffer from the deficiency inherent in most other attorney's fee statutes--the lack of a provision allowing recovery of attorney's fees by a successful defendant. See Annotation, The statute at issue is even-handed; it allows all presupra. vailing parties, whether plaintiff or defendant, to recover attorney's fees; and its rational relationship to a permissible legislative objective renders it impervious to constitutional The even-handedness of Section 768.56 is exemplified by attack. appeals by a losing Plaintiff (Mathews) and losing Defendants (Karlin, Davis, Florida Medical Center, Inc. and Young). The constitutionality of this statute does not depend upon whose ox is gored.

Respondents' attorneys, relying on the statutorily promised fee, baked the four and twenty blackbirds in the pie. The Petitioners now ask this Court to give Respondents' attorneys the proverbial bird instead of the promised piece of pie.

Petitioners equate (PB 36, 37, 45) Section 768.56 with

-9-

the frivolous lawsuit statute, Section 57.105. Section 768.56 forces a potential party to consider the reasonable probability of winning by imposing on the losing party, plaintiff or defendant, the burden of incurring the costs of litigation for attorneys' fees and costs. Full compensation becomes the preventive spur to unnecessary litigation but does not destroy the cause of action nor close the courthouse door. See <u>Sasso v. Ram Property</u> <u>Management</u>, 431 So.2d 204, 209-211 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) on the issue of whether a statute denies a claimant the right to access to the Courts.

> "As discussed in Kluger and borne out in later discussions, no substitute remedy need be supplied by legislation which does not destroy a cause of action." <u>Sasso</u>, <u>supra</u> at pg. 210.

B. PETITIONERS' CONCLUSIONS ARE UNSUBSTANTIATED

Petitioners in their brief present incantations and conclusions never raised in the trial court and for which there is no evidence. They state:

(1) "The means chosen by the legislature are totally inconsistent with its stated premises and objectives" (PB 8);

(2) "is arbitrary and irrational" (PB 8);

(3) "is an invalid exercise of the police power"(PB 9);

(4) "denies..due process and equal protection" (PB 9);

(5) "Is irrational" (PB 9);

(6) "reveals serious irreconcilable internal contradictions" (PB 9);

(7) "does not encourage settlement" (PB 11);

-10-

(8) "is manifestly unrelated to the accomplishment of its goals" (PB 13);

(9) "is not reasonably related to the legislative findings or objectives" (PB 13);

(10) "does not rationally advance these objectives"
(PB 26);

(11) "does not serve a compelling governmental interest"
(PB 33);

(12) "not a sufficient public purpose" (PB 33);

(13) "was intended to and operates to curtail severely medical malpractice litigants' right of access to the courts" (PB 34);

(14) "fails to meet the compelling state purpose"
(PB 35);

(15) "Is not Substantially Related To Its Asserted
Purpose" (PB 35);

(16) "The purported purpose of Section 768.56 is to inhibit non-meritorious claims" (PB 36);

These conclusions are not sustained by either the record or reasoned analysis.

The Petitioners present (PB 11, 12) a dog and pony show of statutes unrelated to attorneys' fees. <u>Horsemen's Benevolent</u> <u>and Protective Assoc. v. Division of Pari-Mutual Wagering</u>, 397 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1981), (payment of percent of purse pool to horseman's association); and <u>Simmons v. Division of Pari-Mutual</u> <u>Wagering</u>, 407 So.2d 269 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981; aff'd 412 So. 357

-11-

(Fla. 1982) (drug use on racing animals). Section 768.56 dealing with attorneys' fees is a horse of another color and the cited statutes and cases are not analagous.

C. PUBLIC POLICY

Rising above the brambles and thickets of legal argument is the public policy of the State of Florida.

The legislature in enacting, Florida Statute §768.56, set the public policy of the State of Florida and provided that the wrongly injured party was to be made whole; Plaintiff, for his personal injury damages as determined by a jury and a reasonable fee for Plaintiff's attorney; the successful Defendant to be made whole by being awarded his attorney's reasonable fee from the losing Plaintiff. If the Plaintiff's attorney's fees must be paid from his jury award, his net return will make him less than whole. This invasion of the Plaintiff's jury award creates less than full justice.

Petitioners urge this Court to reverse the public policy as set by the legislature and Florida Statute §768.56 and revert to the hypocritical falsehood that a jury award without inclusion or consideration of his attorney's fees, constitutes full justice. Anything less than full justice is an injustice. If not full justice now, when?

D. PETITIONERS HAVE FAILED TO CARRY BURDEN OF PROOF

The constitutionality of a validly enacted statute is presumed. The party challenging the constitutionality of a statute shoulders a heavy burden. Where the issue is close, the

-12-

presumption of constitutionality must be indulged. The Petitioners have presented no evidence and have not shouldered their heavy burden, and for all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the District Court was correct in holding the statute constitutional.

:

CONCLUSIONS

1. The trial court and the District Court did not err in holding Florida Statute §768.56 constitutional.

2. Florida Statute §768.56 does not violate the equal protection or the due process clauses of the state or federal constitution.

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